ARTICLE

Nuer has a floating suprasegmental component consisting of quantity and tone

PHONOLOGY

Tatiana Reid[®] and Bert Remijsen[®]

Department of Linguistics and English Language, School of Philosophy, Psychology and Language Sciences, University of Edinburgh, Edinburgh, UK.

Corresponding author: Tatiana Reid; Email: Tatiana.Reid@ed.ac.uk

Received: 17 March 2023; Revised: 20 July 2023; Accepted: 15 August 2023

Keywords: floating quantity; floating tone; hiatus resolution; Nuer; West Nilotic; Nilo-Saharan

Abstract

It is well-attested that floating tones can associate across a word boundary, but it is typologically unusual for floating weight units to do so. The Nuer language presents a floating suprasegmental component (FSC), which is part of lexical morphemes, and includes a unit of quantity and a High tone. This component is located at the left edge of nouns and is realised primarily across a word boundary on a preceding vowel. This article examines the FSC through a phonological analysis and a production study with eight speakers. These investigations reveal how the FSC interacts with the specifications for vowel length and tone of the adjacent context. Specifically, the weight unit of the FSC lengthens a preceding word-final short vowel, and its High tone combines in a compositional manner with tone of this preceding context. Comparisons with related languages suggest that the FSC developed out of a word-initial vowel /a/.

Contents

1.	Introduction	1						
	1.1. Motivation	1						
	1.2. Nuer language background	3						
2.	Descriptive analysis of the floating suprasegmental component	4						
3.	Methodology	9						
	3.1. Materials	9						
	3.2. Speakers	11						
	3.3. Data collection procedure	11						
	3.4. Data processing	12						
	3.5. Statistical analysis	13						
4.	Results	13						
	4.1. Duration	13						
	4.2. Fundamental frequency (f0)	16						
	4.3. Summary	20						
5.	Discussion: the diachronic development of the FSC in Nuer	20						
6.	Conclusion 2							

1. Introduction

1.1. Motivation

Tone and vowel length require segmental material for their phonetic realisation. However, this does not preclude the possibility of their being unattached or 'floating' in the phonological representation of a

© The Author(s), 2025. Published by Cambridge University Press. This is an Open Access article, distributed under the terms of the Creative Commons Attribution licence (https://creativecommons.org/licenses/by/4.0), which permits unrestricted re- use, distribution and reproduction, provided the original article is properly cited.

morpheme. In this scenario, for the suprasegmental feature to surface, it needs to get associated with a suitable docking site, provided by an adjacent constituent.

In relation to tone, the property of being floating can be defined as lacking association with a tone-bearing unit. Floating tones are found in many tone systems, and the phenomenon has been a key consideration in the development of autosegmental theory (cf. Welmers 1970; Goldsmith 1976; Kenstowicz 1994). There are many languages in which floating tones are part of the underlying specification of a morpheme, and the docking site can be located across a word boundary (e.g., McKendry 2013 on South-eastern Nochixtlán Mixtec). When it comes to weight units or moras, the property of being floating implies prosodic defectiveness in the sense of Zimmerman (2017: 40–41), that is, a lack of integration with higher and lower prosodic constituency structure. There are many reports of moraic affixes, that is, weight units that integrate with a stem (Trommer 2015; Zimmerman 2017). By contrast, the case for floating weight units that associate across a word boundary is very limited: to date, detailed evidence for this configuration is reported only for Shilluk, a West Nilotic language spoken in South Sudan (Remijsen & Ayoker 2020). Floating quantity in Shilluk conditions an increase in duration of over 40% on the vocalic prefix of a following word, but is not realised in the absence of this particular context. Remijsen & Ayoker (2020) represent it as a floating mora at the right edge of the word.

In this article, we report another instance of floating quantity that associates across a word boundary. It is located at the left edge of words that have it. It is found in Nuer, which is another West Nilotic language. We illustrate the phenomenon in (1) using the words [gàt] 'child' and [dàk] 'Dok person'.^{1,2,3,4} As shown in (1a) and (1b), in utterance-initial position both words are monosyllabic and Low-toned. But when they follow a word that ends in a short vowel, as in (1c) and (1d), the surface phonological realisation of this vowel differs. It has a shorter duration and a level low tone before [gàt] 'child' in (1c), and a longer duration and a rising tone before [dàk] 'Dok person' in (1d).

(1) a. [gàt] ►
/gàt/
child
'the child'
b. [dàk] ►
/^µdàk/
Dok.person
'the Dok person'
c. [u¼n cwɛ̂aadà gàt] ►
/u¼n cwɛ̂aat-à gàt/
PR.ISG kiss.teeth.at-ISG child
'I am kissing teeth at the child.'

¹A Dok person is a member of the Leer clan of (Western) Nuer.

 $^{^{2}}$ The following notes relate to derivation of surface phonological forms that appear throughout the document: the High toneme has a falling realisation on modal vowels (Reid 2019; Monich 2020); stem-final plosives (C₂) have voiced realisation in context between sonorants (Reid 2019: 59–60). Dissimilatory lowering changes High tones to Low in certain environments. We have already applied dissimilatory lowering in the underlying representation within verb forms in these illustrations.

³Abbreviations and symbols used in this article: 1 = first person; AP = antipassive; C = consonant; F = the *F*-test; f0 = fundamental frequency; F1 = first formant; F2 = second formant; F3 = third formant; FIN = finite; FSC = floating suprasegmental constituent; H = High tone; IMPF = imperfective; L = Low tone; M = Mid tone; PL = plural; PR = pronoun; sG = singular; T = tone; V = vowel; σ = syllable node; μ = mora node; ($^{\mu}$) = floating constituent consisting of a mora and High tone; σ , σ = short vowel (V); σ , σ , σ = long vowel (VV); σ , σ = overlong vowel (VVV); \dot{a} = High tone; \dot{a} = Low tone; $[\hat{a}]$ = falling contour tone; . = syllable boundary.

 $^{^{4}}$ The symbol \blacktriangleright beside an example is a link to an embedded audio recording that can be played in pdf readers that support this feature. The audio files are also available as Supplementary Material that can be downloaded separately.

d. [uµán cwêaadàá dòk] ►
 /uµán cwéaat-à ^µdòk/
 PR.ISG kiss.teeth.at-ISG Dok.person
 'I am kissing teeth at the Dok person.'

The same process applies when words such as 'Dok person' occur in other environments involving a preceding open syllable with short vowels (e.g., the preposition $k\hat{e}$). This suggests that the phenomenon is of a phonological rather than morphosyntactic nature. We propose that the differences in the suffix vowel before the two nouns in (1c) and (1d) can be accounted for by postulating that Nuer has a floating suprasegmental component (FSC). Because the vowel in (1d) differs in duration compared to (1c), we infer that this FSC includes quantity which we represent as the floating mora (^µ) in the UR representation in (1b) and (1d). The increase in duration of the vowel is comparable to that of the long vowels, all other things being equal. In addition, the FSC gives rise to a change in tone on the preceding vowel; this is also evident from comparing (1d) and (1c). Because the syllables on either side of the FSC are Lowtoned in the surface phonology, the rising tone pattern on the suffix vowel in (1d) cannot be attributed to the effects of a tone target on one of these syllables. On the basis of the rising tone in (1d) we infer that the FSC itself includes a specification for High tone.

Situating the FSC within phonological theory and typology, floating affixes have been invoked in the analysis of stem-internal morphology (Akinlabi 1996; Trommer 2015; Zimmerman 2017; Rolle 2018). The FSC in Nuer is different in that it is not a grammatical morpheme but is instead part of the phonological specification of lexical morphemes. The goal of this article, then, is to present a descriptive analysis of the FSC in Nuer, and to confirm through a production study the auditory impressions that underlie it. We expect to find substantial differences in both vowel duration and fundamental frequency as a function of the FSC.

The article is structured as follows: after providing relevant background information on Nuer ($\S1.2$), we present a phonological analysis of the FSC ($\S2$). This analysis forms the basis for an acoustic study with eight speakers; \$3 describes its methodology, and \$4 its results. In \$5, we address the question of the diachronic development of the FSC. The article is concluded in \$6.

1.2. Nuer language background

Nuer (ISO 6393: nus / Glottocode: nuer1246) is a West Nilotic language of the Nilo-Saharan phylum (Nilo-Saharan, Eastern Sudanic, Nilotic, Western, Dinka-Nuer), spoken in the Republic of South Sudan and in the Gambella region of Ethiopia by approximately 1.7 million people (Eberhard *et al.* 2021). Within South Sudan, four dialect clusters can be distinguished: Western Nuer, Central Nuer, and two Eastern – Nasir Nuer and Lou Nuer (Reid 2021). Each of these four clusters consists of a number of dialects (Reid 2022b). The differences between the dialects relate to phonology, morphology, syntax and lexicon. This article reports on the Lou Nuer dialect cluster. It is spoken in the Republic of South Sudan, along the border with Ethiopia.

Lexical stems in Nuer are predominantly monosyllabic. The syllable shape of lexical stems is $C_1(w/j)V(V)(V)(C_2)$. The onset can consist of a single consonant, or it may additionally include a semivowel; the vowel can be short (V), long (VV), or overlong (VVV); and the coda is optional.⁵ The lexical stem can take a suffix, but there are no prefixes.⁶

The Lou Nuer consonant inventory consists of voiceless and voiced plosives and nasals at five places of articulation /p, b, m, t, d, n, t, d, n, c, J, n, k, g, η /; the fricative phoneme /h/; the liquids /l, r/; and three

⁵In open syllables, vowel length is contrastive in a binary sense at most: /V/ vs. /VV/. These are found specifically in function words; the vowels in open syllables can be either short or long. In lexical stems that consist of an open syllable, vowel length is not contrastive at all, and the duration of these vowels is phonetically ambiguous between [VV] and [VVV]. In suffixes, vowel length is also not contrastive – they are underlyingly short (and subject to phonological lengthening due to FSC).

⁶In §5, we will return to the lack of prefixes in the synchronic morphophonology.

approximants /w, j, u/. Voicing in plosives is contrastive in stem-initial position (C_1) only. In stem-final position (C_2), plosives are voiced between sonorants and voiceless otherwise (Reid 2019: 58–60).

The Nuer vowel inventory consists of 22 phonemes, of which 14 are monophthongs /I, i, e, e, ε , A, a, a, o, o, o, o, u, u/ and 8 are diphthongs /I ε , ie, ε a, ea, oa, oa, oo, uo/ (Reid 2019: 42–47; Reid 2024, n.d.). The vowel phonemes contrast in height, backness and voice quality (modal, e.g., /a/, vs. breathy, e.g., /a/).

Nuer vowels have a ternary length contrast (Monich 2017; Reid 2019: 48–51). Monophthongs and diphthongs alike can be short (e.g., $/\varepsilon$, $\varepsilon a/$), long (e.g., $/\varepsilon\varepsilon$, $\varepsilon aa/$) or overlong (e.g., $/\varepsilon\varepsilon\varepsilon$, $\varepsilon aaa/$). In terms of phonological quantity, the diphthongs such as $/\varepsilon a$, εaa , $\varepsilon aaa/$ are equal to monophthongs such as $/\varepsilon$, $\varepsilon\varepsilon\varepsilon/$, $\varepsilon\varepsilon\varepsilon/$, respectively.

Nuer is a tonal language. Lou Nuer has three tonemes: High, Mid and Low. The tonemes have a variety of surface realisations including a rise and a fall (Gjersøe 2019; Reid 2019: 132–140, Reid 2024; Monich 2020).

Suprasegmental and vocalic contrasts both play an important role in Nuer morphology (Crazzolara 1933; Storch 2005; Faust 2017; Baerman *et al.* 2019; Gjersøe 2019; Monich & Baerman 2019; Reid 2019; Baerman & Monich 2021).

2. Descriptive analysis of the floating suprasegmental component

The effects of the FSC were first observed by Crazzolara (1933: 24–25), and then corroborated by the perceptual reports in Reid (2019: 77–80, 2021, 2022b), Gjersøe (2019: 99–100), and Monich (2021). The FSC is also represented in the standard Nuer orthography (Reid 2022b), and speakers tend to be aware of the vowel lengthening associated with it. Previous studies differ with respect to the analysis of the FSC: Crazzolara (1933) and Reid (2019, 2021, 2022b) report changes in vowel length and tone, while Monich (2021) reports only vowel lengthening, and Gjersøe (2019) only tonal changes.

In this section, we present a systematic descriptive analysis of the FSC in the Lou Nuer dialect cluster. The current analysis was developed through elicitation sessions with a reference speaker and corroborated by spontaneous speech data (narrative analysis) and data from 12 additional speakers of Lou Nuer. Data collection for this study took place over video calls, between May 2020 and February 2022 (see also §3.3).

The FSC is located at the left edge of the noun, and, in certain contexts, affects the surfacephonological form of utterances containing these words. As a means of illustration, consider the realisation of two nouns: /gàt/ 'child', which does not have the FSC, and / $^{\mu}$ d λ k/ 'Dok person', which does. They are presented in (2), and further illustrated by the embedded sound files. In (2a) and (2b), the nouns are uttered as a single-word utterance, just as in (1a) and (1b). The FSC does not surface here: both words are realised as monosyllables with a short vowel and a Low tone. In (2c) and (2d), they are preceded by a High-toned open syllable with a short vowel. These examples differ from the ones in (1c) and (1d), where the preceding vocalic suffix was Low-toned. It is in this environment – preceded by a vocalic suffix – that we find evidence for the difference in underlying specification. It is not manifested on the nouns themselves, but rather on the preceding context. Before the noun without the FSC in (2c), the preceding suffix has a short vowel; before the noun with the FSC in (2d), the preceding suffix has a long vowel.

(2)	a.	[gàt] ► /gàt/ 'child'	b. [d∂k] ► / ^{µ́} d∂k/ 'Dok person'
	c.	[ųiśn tjābś gàt] ► /ųiśn tjāp-ś gàt/ PR.ISG touch-ISG child	d. [ųián tjābảa dòk] ► /ųán tjāp-á ^µ dòk/ PR.ISG touch-ISG Dok.person
		'I am touching the child.'	'I am touching the Dok person.'

We account for this by postulating that the FSC contains a floating mora that docks onto the preceding vocalic context, thereby inducing phonological lengthening of an underlyingly short vowel.

In the examples in (2c) and (2d), the tone on the preceding suffix is High underlyingly, and it remains High regardless of whether the following noun has the FSC or not. But in the examples containing the same nouns in (3), repeated from (1), the tone on the preceding suffix differs. This suffix has an underlying High tone which dissimilates to low following the High tone on the verb stem (Reid 2021). Before the noun without the FSC (3a), the suffix has low surface tone and before the noun with the FSC (3b), the suffix has a rising tone. The rising contour in (3b) is due to the FSC.⁷ Note that the tone on the noun stem is not a factor contributing to the surface realisation of the suffix – both /gàt/ and /^{μ}dàk/ carry a Low tone on the stem syllable. To account for the difference in tone on the suffix between examples (3a) and (3b) we postulate that, in addition to a floating mora, the FSC includes a floating High tone. The presence of this tone in the underlying representation is revealed in the context of a preceding open syllable and only when this syllable is Low-toned (3b). When the preceding open syllable is High-toned, as in (2d), the High tone of the FSC associates vacuously.

(3) a. [uļán cwêaadà gàt] ► /uļán cwêaat-à gàt/ PR.ISG kiss.teeth.at-ISG child
'I am kissing teeth at the child.'
b. [uļán cwêaadàá dòk] ► /uļán cwêaat-à ^µdòk/ PR.ISG kiss.teeth.at-ISG Dok.person
'I am kissing teeth at the Dok person.'

A schematic representation of the FSC is provided in (4). The specification for tone on the stem syllable of the FSC noun as either L(ow) or H(igh) will be justified below. The FSC consists of a weight unit and a High tone, both of which associate leftward across the word boundary (represented by the closing square bracket).



The effects of the FSC on the preceding context are also found when a noun with the FSC has a High-toned stem. This can be seen from the examples in (5): (5a), (5c) and (5e) show a High-toned noun without the FSC, and examples (5b), (5d) and (5f) show a High-toned noun with the FSC. In each case, we present the nouns as a one-word utterance ((5a), (5b)), with the preceding suffix vowel being High-toned ((5c), (5d)), and with the preceding suffix vowel being Low-toned ((5e), (5f)). When the preceding suffix vowel is High-toned (5d), the FSC induces a long vowel. When the preceding suffix vowel is Low-toned (5f), the FSC gives rise to both a long vowel and a rising tone. Overall, the derivation of the surface realisations in the FSC words with High-toned stem syllables is accounted for by the schema in (4).

⁷The descriptive analysis of the melodic shape of the suffix vowel in (3b) as rising is informed by acoustic analysis (f0 traces). In our auditory impressions, the melodic shape is very similar to that of the High-toned realisations of the suffix in (2d).

(5) a.	[kậm] ► /kậm/ 'insect'		b. [kúm] ► / ^µ kúm/ 'hat'				
c.	[ųản tjābả kảm] /ųản tjāp-ả kảm/ PR.ISG touch-ISG insec 'I am touching the inse	► t ect.'	d.	[ɰʎn /ɰʎn PR.ISG 'I am	tjābá <u>a</u> tjāp-á touch-18G touching th	kúm] ^µ kúm/ hat ne hat. ³	•
e.	[Ψְגֵׁח cwêaadλֲ /Ψְגֵׁח cwéaat-λֲ PR.ISG kiss.teeth.at-ISG 'I am kissing teeth at t	kộm] ► kộm/ a insect he insect.'	f.	[ųán /ųán PR.ISG 'I am J	cwêaadàá cwéaat-à kiss.teeth. kissing tee	at-18G th at th	kúm] ► ^µ kúm⁄ hat e hat.'

Nouns with the FSC that have Mid-toned stem syllables interact with the preceding context in a different manner: the FSC affects the quantity of the vowel in a preceding open syllable, but not the specification for tone. This is shown in (6), where a noun without the FSC and a noun with the FSC each appear as a one-word utterance ((6a), (6b)), with the preceding High-toned suffix ((6c), (6d)), and with the preceding Low-toned suffix ((6e), (6f)). Comparing (6c) and (6e) with (6d) and (6f), we see that the FSC conditions vowel lengthening; comparing (6e) with (6f) we see that the specification for tone on the suffix vowel is not affected by the FSC.

(6) a.	[ɲāal] ► /ɲāal/ 'girl'			[cōʊl] ► / ^µ cōʊl/ 'Chol'				
c.	[ųૣʎn tjābʎ ɲāal] /ųlśn tjāp-ś ɲāal/ PR.ISG touch-ISG girl 'I am touching the girl	► .'	d.	[ųán tjābáa cōʊl] ► /ųán tjāp-á ^µ cōʊl/ PR.ISG touch-ISG Chol 'I am touching Chol.'				
e.	[ųμán cwêaadλ /ųμán cwéaat-λ PR.ISG kiss.teeth.at-ISG 'I am kissing teeth at th	nāal] ► nāal/ girl he girl.'	f.	[ųų́n cwɛ̂aadỵ̀n cʊʊl] ► /ųų́n cwɛ́aat-ỵ̀ µcʊʊl/ PR.ISG kiss.teeth.at-ISG Chol 'I am kissing teeth at Chol.'				

Given the data in (6), we hypothesise that with the Mid-toned nouns, the FSC consists of *quantity* only.⁸ This is shown schematically in (7). Note that the stem syllable of the noun with the FSC in (7) is specified for the M(id) tone, and the FSC does not include a tone target. This contrasts with the configuration where the stems syllables of FSC nouns are either L(ow) or H(igh) toned in which case the FSC is specified for H(igh) tone, as in (4).



⁸Ongoing investigations show that the absence of the floating High tone in nouns with the Mid-toned stems may be derived rather than underlying.

The analysis of Mid-toned nouns that have the FSC indicates that the increase in duration cannot be attributed to the effect of the floating High tone alone: even when the FSC does not condition tone change, it still induces vowel lengthening.

So far, the description has been limited to the phonological footprint of the FSC following an open syllable. The FSC also affects the phonological form when the preceding syllable is closed. An important difference with what we saw up until now is that in the context of the closed preceding syllable, only the floating tone can cross the syllable boundary, but not the floating mora. This is shown in (8), where we again contrast the nouns /gàt/ 'child' (in (8a) and (8c)) and /^údàk/ (in (8b) and (8d)). The FSC does not affect the vowel length of verbs with either short vowels (as in (8a) and (8b)) or long ones (as in (8c) and (8d)). The floating tone, on the other hand, is still able to associate with the preceding closed syllable. This is shown in (8b), where the underlyingly Low-toned verb is realised with a surface rise before the noun with the FSC. When the preceding context is High-toned (as in (8d)), the floating High associates vacuously, just as with the open High-toned syllables in (2d) and (5d).

(8)	a.	[kèt	gàt]	►	b.	[kět	dòk] 🕨 🕨	
		/kèt	gàt/			/kèt	^µ dòk/	
		swim.FIN	child			swim.FI	N Dok.person	
		'The child is swimming.'			'The Dok person is swimming			
	c.	[ŋwລ໌ລູກ	Ç	jàt] ►	d.	[ŋwລ໌ລູກ	dòk]	►
		/ŋwś <u>o</u> n	Ç	jàt/		/ŋwś <u>o</u> n	^{µ́} dòk/	
		be.smelly	y.FIN C	hild		be.smell	ly.FIN Dok.perso	n
		'The chil	ld is s	nellv.'		'The Do	ok person is sme	lly.'

This effect of the FSC on the preceding closed Low-toned syllable is the same for High-toned nouns with the FSC. This is shown in (9): the FSC in (9b) does not induce a vowel length increase, but it does condition a rising tone when the preceding verb is Low-toned.

(9)	a.	[kèt	kậm] 🕨	b.	[kĕt	kým] 🕨	
		/kèt	kóm/		/kèt	^{µ́} kų́m/	
		swim.FI	N insect		swim.FIN hat 'The hat is swimmin		
		'The ins	sect is swimming.'				

The schematic representation of the behaviour of FSC nouns with either a Low or a High tone on the stem syllable in the context of the closed preceding syllables is shown in (10). Only the High tone gets associated with the preceding syllable. The coda consonant represents the right edge boundary of the syllable, which the floating mora cannot cross.



The Mid-toned nouns with the FSC do not contribute any tonal specification to a preceding closed Low-toned syllable, as is shown in (11b). In this respect, the Mid-toned nouns with the FSC behave in a consistent way across all contexts considered in this study (cf. (6d), (6f)).

(11)	a.	[kèt	ɲāal] ►	b.	[kèt	cūʊl] 🕨
		/kèt	ɲāal/		/kèt	^μ cōʊl/
		swim.FI	N girl		swim.FIN	v Chol
		'The gir	l is swimming.'		'Chol is	swimming.

In relation to FSC nouns with Mid-toned stem syllables, we have postulated that the FSC contains a floating mora, but no floating tone. Hence, the schema in (7) above can be extended to context where the preceding syllable is closed, shown in (12). The floating mora does not associate with the preceding context, just as in (10).



If a preceding finite verb is specified for High tone, then yet another manifestation of the FSC can be observed. It occurs when the following noun is High-toned, as in (13). Nouns that do not have the FSC, as in (13a), are subject to dissimilatory lowering – a sandhi process that changes the second of two High tones into a phonological Low tone (Reid 2019: 152; 2021).⁹ But when a noun with a High-toned stem syllable contains the FSC, as in (13b), dissimilatory lowering does not apply. We hypothesise that the floating High tone that is part of the FSC blocks the application of dissimilatory lowering on the noun stem. The two underlying High tones associated with the noun in (13b) are treated as separate specifications by the sandhi process (indicating that the OCP does not apply between the High tone of the FSC and the High tone of the FSC and independent from the tonal specification on the following stem syllable.

(13)	a.	[ŋwລ໌ຼລຼກ	kàm] 🕨	b.	[ŋwຼ໌ລຼຸກ	kým] 🕨
		/ŋwź <u>ʻ</u> ŋ	kģm/		/ŋwś <u>o</u> n	^µ kײm/
		be.smelly.F	IN insect		be.smelly.	FIN hat
		'The insect	is smelly.'		'The hat is	s smelly.'

Schematic representations for the examples (13a) and (13b) are presented below in (14a) and (14b), respectively. Example (14a) shows how dissimilatory lowering applies in (13a): the High tone becomes Low in the context of the High tone of the preceding syllable. Example (14b) shows how the FSC blocks the application of the dissimilatory lowering in (13b): now it is the floating High tone of the FSC that dissimilates to Low, shielding the High tone on the stem syllable. Neither the weight unit nor the resulting Low tone associate with the preceding context.

⁹Dissimilatory lowering is restricted to certain syntactic contexts, including when the subject occurs in post-verbal position as in (13). Dissimilatory lowering does not apply in the context where a suffixed verb is followed by an object (see, e.g., (5c) and (5d)). It equally does not apply across the boundary which separates the topicalised pronoun, for example, /uián/ 'I' in (5e) and (5f); hence the High-toned verb in these examples is not subject to dissimilatory lowering. Sandhi rules that are sensitive to morphosyntactic conditions have been reported for other related languages (see Remijsen & Ladd (2008: 199–201) for Dinka and Reid (2010: 156–192) for Reel).



Other than /CV/ and /CVC/ preceding contexts, there can be open syllables with phonologically long vowels in Nuer (/CVV/). If a following word has the FSC, these long vowels do not lengthen. We hypothesise that this is due to the vowel contrast in open syllables being maximally binary in Nuer (see fn. 5).

In summary, we hypothesise that the FSC consists of a floating mora and a High tone. The FSC is manifested in the surface phonology only when there is a preceding context: in utterance-initial position, the presence of the FSC cannot be observed at all. When the preceding context consists of a short vowel, the FSC has two effects. First, this preceding vowel increases substantially in duration. Second, if this syllable is Low-toned, it is realised with a rising contour tone instead. This holds for nouns with the FSC that have either a Low or a High tone on the stem syllable. When a noun with the FSC has a Mid tone on the stem syllable, the effect is limited to an increase in duration of the preceding short vowel. If a noun with the FSC is preceded by a closed syllable, the floating tone can associate, but the floating mora cannot. Finally, the High floating tone blocks the application of dissimilatory lowering sandhi on the High-toned nouns with the FSC.

At the basis of this analysis are auditory impressions regarding the duration and melody of the vowel that precedes nouns with and without the FSC. These impressions are subjective, and it is therefore worthwhile to corroborate them – all the more so because the postulated FSC is typologically unusual in that it involves a component of quantity which crosses word boundary. To that end, we have carried out a production study in which we evaluate the central phonetic facts. Specifically, we assess whether a word-final vowel preceding a noun with the FSC is longer and has higher pitch than such a vowel preceding a noun without the FSC. We also examine the interaction of the FSC in the context involving closed preceding syllables to verify our descriptive account of the dissimilatory lowering.

3. Methodology

In this section, we describe the methodology of our production study. The study is based on nouns with and without the FSC. These nouns are described in $\S3.1$, along with the contexts in which the data were elicited. These materials were elicited from a representative sample of speakers of Nuer, described in $\S3.2$. Section 3.3 describes the procedure through which the materials were elicited from the speakers and audio recorded. Then we describe how the resulting data were processed and measured (\$3.4) and subjected to statistical analysis (\$3.5).

3.1. Materials

The materials include a total of 22 nouns, shown in Table 1.¹⁰ These 22 items diverge as a function of two factors: i) whether the noun has the FSC; and ii) whether the specification for tone on the stem syllable of the noun is Low or High. The FSC is included in the design because, according to our

¹⁰We originally designed our data set to include 26 nouns. Four of these were discarded after data collection because the phonological form of the words was not consistent across speakers. Specifically, due to the dialect differences within the Lou Nuer dialect cluster, one word had the FSC for half of the speakers but not for the other half; the remaining three words displayed between-speaker variation with respect to the stem vowel and the stem-final consonant.

	Low (10 items)		High (12 items)	
FSC (11 items)	 ^µcàh ^µcìɛh ^µjèepní ^µkèaj ^µŋèat 	'tick' 'metal bracelet' 'pockets' 'greater honeyguide (<i>Indicator indicator</i>)' 'ash'	 ^μjέερ ^μk<u>ít</u> ^μkúm ^μlát ^μtáak ^μtwéj 	'pocket' 'traditional bag' 'hat' 'cotton' 'bowl' 'container for storing grain'
no FSC (11 items)	 ▶ gàt ▶ Jôk ▶ kètn<u>í</u> ▶ kèaaj ▶ lìɛt 	<pre>'child' 'back' 'sticks' 'sacred garlic pear (Crateva adansonii)' 'sand'</pre>	 dínt kér kóm kwán lúk mók 	'bird' 'calabashes' 'insect' 'food' 'court case' 'buffalo'

Table 1. The nouns used in the production study, broken down by specification for FSC and tone on the stem syllable

descriptive analysis, it determines the duration and fundamental frequency (f0) of the preceding vowel. We tested this by including 11 nouns with the FSC and 11 without. The tone of the stem syllable is manipulated (Low *vs.* High) to demonstrate that it does not affect the surface realisation of tone on the preceding context. Our data set thus includes 10 nouns that have a Low tone on the stem syllable, and 12 that have a High tone.

The nouns were elicited in three contexts, which differ in the opportunity they offer for the FSC to be realised: i) preceded by a short vowel that carries a High tone; ii) preceded by a short vowel that carries a Low tone; and iii) preceded by a closed syllable with a High tone. These contexts are illustrated in (15a), (15b) and (15c), respectively. Preceded by a High-toned vowel (15a), only the vowel duration is affected, but not the f0 (the High tone target of the FSC associates vacuously). The context in (15b) has the nouns preceded by a Low-toned vocalic suffix. The suffix has a High tone underlyingly but it dissimilates to Low due to dissimilatory lowering (see fn. 9). Here, we expect the phonetic realisation of this preceding vowel to be affected by the FSC both in vowel duration and in f0. When the preceding context is a High-toned closed syllable (15c), neither the floating quantity nor the floating tone associate leftward. Instead, we hypothesise that the FSC blocks dissimilatory lowering of the High tone on the stem syllable of the noun.

- (15) a. [uµán tjābán kúm] ►
 /uµán tjāp-á ^µkúm/
 PR.ISG touch-ISG hat
 'I am touching the hat.'
 - b. [Ψĺán cwêaadàá kúm] ► /Ψĺán cwéaat-à ^μkúm/
 PR.ISG kiss.teeth.at-ISG hat
 'I am kissing teeth at the hat.'
 - c. [ŋwậȝŋ kúm] ► /ŋwậȝŋ ^µkúm/ be.smelly.FIN hat 'The hat is smelly.'

3.2. Speakers

The materials were collected from eight native speakers (five female, three male) of Lou Nuer. The youngest speaker was 35 and the oldest was 50 years of age at the time of the recording. All speakers were born in the Lou Nuer region and lived there well into their adolescence. At the time of the recording, all of the speakers resided in Kenya, where they live in close-knit Nuer communities and use Nuer daily. All speakers additionally speak English as a second language.

3.3. Data collection procedure

The data for the production study were collected between September 2021 and February 2022 using a hybrid online/in-person approach. The first author met with the speakers individually through video calls, while a native-speaker research assistant, Rebecca Nyawany Makwach, recorded the speakers in their homes in Nairobi.¹¹ The recordings were made using a solid-state recorder (Marantz PMD661) and a dynamic headset-mounted microphone (Shure SM10A).

During the recording sessions, the first author communicated with the speakers in English. Additionally, the speakers were able to get explanations in Nuer from the research assistant at any point before, during or after the recording session. Data collection was preceded by the informed consent procedure and a short practice session during which the speakers practiced translating the words and uttering them naturally in the three contexts.

The nouns in Table 1 were elicited in a semi-randomised order, which was reversed for half of the speakers to balance out order-of-presentation effects. Lexical items that are easier to elicit were positioned at the beginning of the set. For each noun, the first author presented the speaker with its English translation and asked the speaker to translate it into Nuer. Where the speaker could not think of the intended Nuer word, the research assistant provided explanation in Nuer without uttering the target word. For example, for /kèaaj/ 'sacred garlic pear', the research assistant would explain that it is a tree that provides a lot of shade and that it is frequently found around the town of Nasir. This way the speakers were able to recall the intended word (for an example of elicitation sessions see video recordings in Reid 2022a). We started out by recording target nouns in isolation to reassure ourselves that they did not start with a vowel. The word was then elicited in the three contexts in the order shown in (15). We recorded two to three repetitions for each context utterance to maximise the chances of getting a good-quality realisation.

Most speakers were able to carry out the task successfully after a short practice before the actual recording. In addition to the eight speakers who completed the task successfully, we attempted data collection with three other speakers, who struggled either to produce the target words in the contexts, or to utter the utterances in a natural manner. The data from these speakers are not included.

The design thus consists of 22 nouns in the isolation form and in the three contexts across eight speakers. We do not report on the isolation context which was collected merely to ascertain that the words with the FSC are not vowel-initial.¹² Hence, the expected number of utterances in the data set is 528 (22 nouns \times 3 contexts \times 8 speakers). Because of accidental gaps, however, the actual number that we have in our data set is 505. These 23 gaps are spread across items, contexts, and speakers.¹³ Together with the repetitions, the number of the utterances in the data set is 1,371.

¹¹Rebecca was also the reference speaker and one of the speakers for this study.

¹²However, the citation context is included in the data set, which is publicly available on Edinburgh Datashare (Reid & Remijsen 2023), so that the reader can verify that the FSC words uttered in isolation are not vowel-initial.

¹³Taken together, the greatest number of accidental gaps for any speaker (L23) is 8 out of 66, and the greatest number of gaps for any item ('sand') across all speakers and contexts is 9 out of 24. The following items are missing from the open syllable preceding contexts (15a,15b): /litt/ 'sand' is missing for speakers L21, L22 and L23; /kèaaj/, 'sacred garlic pear' is missing for speaker L23, /^úkèaj/ 'greater honeyguide' is missing for speaker L13, /k¢r/ 'calabashes' is missing for speaker L15, and /kètní/ 'sticks' is missing for speaker L15. This adds up to 14 missing values (7 gaps across speakers × 2 contexts). The following items are missing for speaker L21, L22 and L23, /k¢r/ 'calabashes' for speaker L15, d'kèaj/ 'greater honeyguide' is missing for speakers L13 and L23, and /kètní/ 'sticks' is missing for speakers L15; the rest of the gaps are in the data for speaker L23: /^úcàh/ 'tick', /kèaaj/, 'sacred garlic pear'. This accounts for the remaining nine missing values.

3.4. Data processing

The data were processed using Praat (Boersma & Weenink 2005). First, the utterances of the three types illustrated in (15) were extracted from the raw recording. Because the speakers were asked to repeat each utterance, this yielded two or three realisations (repetitions) for each utterance per speaker. All realisations were included in the study unless they had background noise or hesitation. Second, the sound files were segmented. Specifically, we determined the beginning and the end of both the onset and the nucleus of the stem syllable of the noun. Further segmentation is specific to context environment. In the two contexts where an open syllable precedes the noun ((15a) and (15b)), we segmented the onset and nucleus of this preceding open syllable, as well as the nucleus of the preceding verb stem syllable. And in the context where a closed syllable precedes the noun (15c), the onset, nucleus and coda of this preceding closed syllable were segmented. The segmentation of speech segments in closed- and open-syllable contexts is illustrated in (16a) and (16b), respectively, where the vertical lines represent segment boundaries.

(16) a. $[\underline{u}\underline{\dot{a}}n \underline{t}\mathbf{j} \overline{a} \mathbf{b} \underline{\dot{a}} \mathbf{d} \mathbf{i}\mathbf{I} \mathbf{t}]$	b. $[\eta w \circ \circ n d \iota t]$
PR.ISG touch.ISG bird	be.smelly.FIN bird
'I am touching the bird.'	'The bird is smelly.'

Segmentation was guided by the principles in Turk et al. (2006). As a rule, the beginning of the F2 track was taken as the point for placing the segmentation boundary between the vowel and the adjacent consonants. The burst/aspiration phase and the voicing phase at the boundary between a plosive and a vowel were segmented as part of the consonant. In complex onsets (consisting of a stop consonant and a glide [w] or [j], and always followed by non-high vowels in the data), the boundary was placed at the point where F2 begins to transition from the glide into the vowel. Coda [j] and [w] were segmented at the beginning of F1 and F2 transitions from the preceding vowel; at this point, there was also evidence of weaker energy in the spectrogram. [u] in coda position was segmented at the point where the F1 and F2 start going down. The presence of [u] was also evident from the weaker energy in the spectrogram, and presence of noise. Speakers differed in this respect: with some, the weaker energy in the formants was the most salient acoustic landmark; with others, it was the shift in F1 and F2; and with others yet, it was the end of formants and beginning of the noise.¹⁴ Nasals were segmented at the point of the beginning of the anti-formant. With nasals before and after the vowels, in addition to the presence of the anti-formant there is also less energy in the spectrogram compared to that of the vowels. This change in the energy in the spectrogram was also taken as a guiding principle during segmentation. Two nasals with the same place of articulation in a row were segmented at the point of a break between the anti-formants. Whenever the nasals differed in place of articulation, the anti-formants appeared at different levels. In such cases there was also a gap in the anti-formants at which point the segmentation boundary was placed. The lateral in context (15c) has a very distinctive realisation compared to the nasal /p/ that precedes it (the nasal has the anti-formant, the lateral does not), and as such was relatively easy to segment.

Two phonetic parameters were measured: duration and f0, both using scripts.¹⁵ We measured the duration of the suffix vowel in contexts (15a) and (15b) where this vowel preceded words with and without the FSC. The f0 was measured over the noun and the immediately preceding segments: the vocalic suffix in contexts (15a) and (15b), and the stem syllable in context (15c). Two types of f0 measurements were carried out. First, we created time-normalised f0 traces by taking 10 equidistant measurements within each segment starting from the vowel in the stem syllable of the verb and up to and including the vowel of the stem syllable of the noun. Second, we took f0 measurements in the suffix

¹⁴Often the noise for the consonant following the vowel started around the F3 region whilst the F1 and F2 for the vowel would continue. In such cases we used F2 as a criterion. In terms of vowel durations, it might be that segmenting at the point where the noise begins is more accurate.

¹⁵The f0 traces were also visually checked for tracking errors.

vowel and in the vowel of the noun stem. With respect to the suffix vowel, we took the measurements at the temporal mid point of the vowel as well as at 20% and 80% into the suffix vowel's duration. A measurement of the f0 change was subsequently calculated by subtracting the value at 80% from the value at 20%. With respect to the stem vowel of the noun, we took f0 measurements at the temporal mid point and at 20% and 80% into the vowel duration.

3.5. Statistical analysis

The statistical analyses were carried out in R (R Core Team 2021) using the additional packages tidyverse (Wickham *et al.* 2019), 1me4 (Bates *et al.* 2015), 1merTest (Kuznetsova *et al.* 2017) and MASS (Venables & Ripley 2002). All the descriptive statistics reported below were first aggregated over repetitions. This equally applies to all of the figures. The measurements for duration and f0 over the suffix vowel were z-transformed by speaker to normalise for between-speaker variation in rate of speech and f0 register. These z-transformed values form the basis of the descriptive statistics presented in §4.

In addition, we used linear mixed effects modelling, with the FSC, the tone of the stem syllable of the noun, and the tone of the preceding vowel as fixed factors, and both speaker and item as random factors. In these inferential tests, the dependent variables – duration and f0 – are included as raw values rather than after *z*-transformation. In modelling the random factors, we started out from the maximal model, with random slopes for the three-way interaction between the three fixed factors modelled for both speaker and item (Barr *et al.* 2013). From this starting point, we took out interactions and factors from the random effects structure when the correlations were above 0.9 or below –0.9. Pruning down in this manner, we ended up with item modelled as a random intercept, and speaker modelled as a random slope by the tone of the stem syllable. This random effect structure is used both in the linear mixed effects models for duration and for f0. In these tests, we set the significance threshold (alpha) at 0.01.

Finally, we use linear discriminant analysis (LDA; Vannatta & LaVeni 2020) to determine to what degree duration is effective in predicting category membership for the FSC. This is useful because it has a bearing on how salient the FSC is in the acoustic signal, and therefore how accessible the FSC may be to a native-speaker listener.

4. Results

In this section, we report on the results of the production study. Section 4.1 presents the duration measurements, and 4.2 the f0 measurements.

4.1. Duration

The measurements reported in this section relate to the duration of the suffix vowel that precedes the target nouns, that is, contexts (15a) and (15b). Figure 1 shows means and standard deviations for the duration of this suffix vowel with and without the FSC. The mean values are 77 ms without the FSC and 122 ms with the FSC, a difference of 45 ms. In other words, the suffix vowel is 58% longer in duration when it is affected by the FSC. Figure 1 shows that the distributions are well separated: there is no overlap at the level of one standard deviation, that is, around 68% of the values. This difference of 47 ms between the short and long vowels in closed stem syllables in utterance-medial context.

Aside from the presence vs. absence of the FSC, the variability around the mean is affected by the difference in rate of speech between speakers. The contribution of this factor is evident in Figure 2, which shows the duration measurements broken down by speaker and FSC. The distributions for the duration of the suffix vowel with and without the FSC are more than two standard deviations apart for six out of the eight speakers (Speakers 1, 2, 5, 6, 7, 8), and overlap in standard deviations with and without FSC is limited to a single speaker (Speaker 4).



Figure 1. Means (dots) and standard deviations (whiskers) for the duration of the suffix vowel (*z*-transformed by speaker) as a function of the FSC on the following noun, across all speakers and items.



Figure 2. Means (dots) and standard deviations (whiskers) for the duration of the suffix vowel as a function of the FSC, for each of the eight speakers separately. Black dots – without the FSC; grey dots – with the FSC.

Figures 1 and 2 demonstrate that the duration of the suffix vowel is determined by presence or absence of the FSC on the noun that follows the suffix. Figure 3 explores whether its duration is additionally influenced by the specifications for tone on i) the following noun (Figure 3a) and ii) the suffix itself (Figure 3b). Overall, the suffix has greater duration as a function of Low tone – either on the noun stem or on the suffix itself. In Figure 3a, the mean durations of the suffix vowel without the FSC are 75 ms and 79 ms for nouns with High *vs.* Low-toned stem syllables, respectively. With the FSC, the mean durations are 119 ms and 126 ms for nouns that have High *vs.* Low-toned stem syllables, respectively. In Figure 3b, the mean durations of the suffix vowel without the FSC are 76 ms and 77 ms for nouns preceded by High *vs.* Low-toned suffixes, respectively. With the FSC, the mean durations of the suffix vowel are 120 ms and 124 ms for nouns preceded by High *vs.* Low-toned suffixes. However, as can be seen from Figure 3, neither the specification for tone on the noun stem nor the suffix vowel.

We ran a linear mixed effects model, with FSC, Noun Stem Tone, and Suffix Tone as fixed factors, including all of the possible interactions between them. Item was modelled as a random intercept, and



Figure 3. Means and standard deviations for the duration of the suffix vowel as a function of the FSC (*z*-transformed by speaker), broken down by Noun Stem Tone (*a*) and Suffix Tone (*b*).

Table 2. Results of the linear mixed effects model for duration as a function of FSC, Noun Stem Tone and Suffix Tone. Significant results are marked by asterisks

	Sum of squares	df	F	Probability
FSC	0.059675	1	369.38	< 0.0001*
Noun Stem Tone	0.000063	1	0.39	0.5391
Suffix Tone	0.000009	1	0.05	0.8141
$FSC \times Noun$ Stem Tone	0.000025	1	0.15	0.6993
$FSC \times Suffix$ Tone	0.000715	1	4.4	0.0357
Noun Stem Tone × Suffix Tone	0.000248	1	1.5	0.2159
$FSC \times Noun Stem Tone \times Suffix Tone$	0.000827	1	5.12	0.0239

Speaker as a random slope by Noun Stem Tone. The resulting model is reported in Table 2.¹⁶ As seen in Table 2, the effect of FSC on duration is highly significant. None of the other factors reach the significance threshold of 0.01, although the interactions involving FSC and Suffix Tone are almost significant. In summary, the results of the linear mixed effects analysis support the hypothesis that the FSC conditions a substantial difference in the duration of the preceding suffix vowel.

Further evidence in support for this conclusion comes from a LDA with the FSC as the factor to be classified based on the duration of the suffix vowel (*z*-transformed by speaker to correct for variation in rate of speech). As the factor, FSC has two levels, the LDA generates one discriminant function. The correlation coefficient (r) of the duration measurement with this function is 1.85. A total of 95% of the tokens were classified correctly for the FSC, indicating that nouns can be classified reliably for FSC on the basis of the duration of the preceding vocalic suffix.

In this section, we have reported on the effect of the FSC on the duration of the vowel of a preceding open syllable. We do not perceive a difference in the duration of the vowel in a preceding closed syllable as function of the FSC across the following word boundary, and earlier studies have not reported such a difference either. Examining the duration of the stem vowel of the verb in the consonant-final preceding context, that is, (15c), we find mean values across speakers and items of 92.6 ms without the FSC and

 $^{^{16}}$ The formula for this model in R is lmer(duration \sim FSC * Noun.Stem.Tone * Suffix.Tone + (1 + Noun.Stem.Tone|Speaker) + (1|Item), data=Duration.Dataset).



Figure 4. Time-normalised f0 traces over the domain extending from the vowel of the preceding verb stem up to and including the stem vowel of the noun, averaged over all items and speakers. Separate lines by tone of the preceding suffix vowel and the FSC (see legend).

of 92 ms with the FSC. In the light of these findings, we are not examining the duration of this vowel further.

4.2. Fundamental frequency (f0)

4.2.1. With nouns preceded by vocalic suffix

We start with exploring f0 through time-normalised f0 traces averaged over all speakers, and then proceed to extract measurements informed by these observations. While time-normalised f0 traces do not show the realisation of the FSC in terms of duration, they enable us to gauge its melodic realisation, as a mean value across the speakers and items in our sample. Figure 4 shows time-normalised f0 traces separated out by the FSC and by the tone of the preceding suffix vowel. If the suffix is High-toned underlyingly, f0 over the suffix is high, both without the FSC (solid grey line) and with the FSC (solid black line): the traces for these conditions overlap over the suffix vowel. In contrast, if the suffix carries a Low tone, the f0 traces differ depending on whether the following noun has the FSC or not. In the context without the FSC (dashed grey line), f0 over the suffix. This state of affairs suggests that the FSC contributes a High tone target to the vocalic suffix. When the preceding suffix vowel also has a High target, the melodic patterns are indistinguishable. But when the preceding suffix has a Low target, the compositional outcome of this Low target with the High tone of the FSC is a rising contour.

In Figure 5, we examine the interaction between the tone on the preceding suffix and the FSC on the basis of the f0 values at the temporal mid point of the suffix vowel (Figure 5a), and the f0 change over the vocalic domain (Figure 5b) which was calculated by subtracting the f0 value at 80% of the vowel's duration from the value at 20% of the vowel's duration. Figure 5a shows a three-way separation among, first, the condition with a High-toned suffix, where f0 is 212 Hz without the FSC and 213 Hz with the FSC; second, the condition with a Low-toned suffix and the FSC, that is, the rising contour of Figure 4 (dashed black line), which yields an f0 of 194 Hz; and third, the condition with a Low-toned suffix without the FSC, which yields an f0 of 169 Hz. Figure 5b shows the same separation among three patterns: if the suffix is High-toned, the f0 changes little over the duration of the vowel; if the preceding suffix is Low-toned and the noun has the FSC, the f0 is rising (negative f0 change value); and if the suffix is Low-toned and the noun does not have the FSC, the f0 is falling (positive f0 change value). Given that the whiskers encompass one standard deviation (68%) around the mean, and that the measurements are z-transformed by speaker to normalise for between-speaker variation in register and range, we can infer from Figure 5 that the separation of these patterns is fairly salient. Comparing the two panels with one another, we can see that the separation of the three patterns is clearer in terms of the f0 change measure (Figure 5b). Hence, we will use the f0 change measure as a dependent in the inferential test reported below.



Figure 5. Means and standard deviations for f0 as a function of Suffix Tone and FSC, measured at temporal midpoint of the vowel (a), and f0 change between 20% and 80% of the vowel's duration (b), across all speakers and items, after z-transformation by speaker.



Figure 6. Time-normalised f0 traces over the domain extending from the vowel of the preceding verb stem ('prec. V') up to and including the stem vowel of the noun ('foll. V'), averaged over all items and speakers. Separate panels by Suffix Tone; separate lines by FSC and by Noun Stem Tone (see legend).

Having considered the influence of the preceding tonal context, we now examine the influence of the following tonal context, that is, the specification for tone – Low or High – on the stem syllable of nouns with and without the FSC (Figure 6). The results are broken down by the specification for tone on the suffix vowel, the importance of which was established above (Figures 4 and 5). Figure 6a shows that, when the suffix vowel (marked as 'target V') is High-toned, there is no substantial difference between the f0 traces up to the onset of the stem syllable of the nouns ('foll. C'). The specification of the tone on the suffix vowel is specified for a Low tone (Figure 6b), the f0 traces over the suffix vowel diverge as a function of the FSC: they are low level in the absence of the FSC and rising with the FSC. It is only from the onset consonant of the following stem syllable ('foll. C') that the specification for tone of the preceding suffix, f0 is 6 Hz higher when the noun stem has a Low tone than when it has a High tone. This difference is small relative to other sources of variability. Crucially, the f0 traces over the suffix vowel do not diverge substantially as a function of the specification for tone of the stem syllable of the noun stem syllable of the stem syllable of the noun stem syllable of the stem syllable of the noun stem syllable of the stem syllable of the noun stem conditions of the following stem syllable ('foll. C') that the specification for tone of the noun stem conditions the divergence of the f0 traces. Across the conditions of the FSC and the tone of the preceding suffix, f0 is 6 Hz higher when the noun stem has a Low tone than when it has a High tone.

	Sum of squares	df	F	Probability
FSC	11496.3	1	436.64	< 0.0001*
Noun Stem Tone	11.3	1	0.43	0.5189
Suffix Tone	10272.3	1	390.15	< 0.0001*
$FSC \times Noun$ Stem Tone	374.7	1	14.2	0.001*
$FSC \times Suffix$ Tone	22674.8	1	861.21	< 0.0001*
Noun Stem Tone × Suffix Tone	12.2	1	0.46	0.495
$FSC \times Noun Stem Tone \times Suffix Tone$	200.0	1	7.60	0.006*

Table 3. Results of the linear mixed effects model for the dependent f0 change as a function of fixed factors: FSC, Noun Stem Tone, Suffix Tone. Significant results are marked by asterisks

We ran a linear mixed effects model on the f0 measurements, with FSC, Noun Stem Tone and Suffix Tone as fixed factors, including all of the possible interactions between them. In this model f0 is represented as f0 change, because it differs more clearly as a function of FSC and Suffix Tone than static f0 measures (cf. Figure 5). As in the model for duration, Item was modelled as a random intercept, and Speaker as a random slope by Noun Stem Tone. The resulting model is reported in Table 3.¹⁷ The biggest significant effect is due to the interaction between FSC and Suffix Tone. In addition, there are also sizable significant effects for FSC and Suffix Tone by themselves. Then there are smaller significant effects for the interaction between FSC and Tone and the three-way interaction between FSC, Noun Stem Tone, and Suffix Tone. However, Noun Stem Tone is not significant as a main effect. These results support the analysis in §2. Specifically, the f0 pattern on the vocalic suffix is determined primarily by its own specification (Suffix Tone) and by the FSC, which comes with a High tone target. These two factors interact, in the sense that the effect of the FSC is different when the suffix is specified for Low tone or High tone: if the suffix is specified for Low tone, the addition of the High tone target of the FSC yields a rising f0 pattern; if the suffix is specified for High tone, the addition of the High tone of the FSC applies vacuously.

4.2.2. With nouns preceded by closed syllable

We conclude with the examination of the f0 patterns in nouns in the context following a closed Hightoned syllable (15c). According to our descriptive analysis (§2), neither the floating mora nor the floating tone dock leftwards in this environment. Instead, the FSC interacts with a tone sandhi process, dissimilatory lowering: High-toned nouns without the FSC undergo dissimilatory lowering in this context, changing High tones on the noun into Low tones; High-toned nouns with the FSC, in contrast, do not.

Figure 7 shows that High-toned nouns without the FSC indeed have low f0 over the onset and nucleus of the stem. The pattern is similar to that of the underlying Low-toned nouns, however, with the latter the fall is somewhat steeper than with the Low that results from the dissimilatory lowering. In contrast, the High-toned nouns with the FSC have high f0 at the beginning of the vowel of the stem syllable.¹⁸ Inspection of the time-normalised traces in the Figure 7 indicates that the divergence is greatest earlier in the vowel. For that reason, further descriptive and inferential statistics relating to dissimilatory lowering are based on this measure.

¹⁷The formula for this model in R is lmer(FO.Change ~ FSC * Noun.Stem.Tone * Suffix.Tone + (1 + Noun.Stem.Tone|Speaker) + (1|Item), data=FO.Dataset.A).

¹⁸The realisation of the High tone in Nuer varies depending on the voice quality of the vowel. It is realised as level high f0 if the vowel is breathy, and as a fall if the vowel is modal. Within our data set (Table 1), roughly half of the nouns have a modal vowel which gives rise to the somewhat falling average realisation of the High-toned nouns.



Figure 7. Time-normalised f0 traces over the domain extending from the vowel of the verb stem ('prec. V') up to and including the stem vowel of the noun ('foll. V'), averaged over all items and speakers. Separate lines by FSC and by Noun Stem Tone (see legend).



Figure 8. Means and standard deviations for f0 taken at 20% into the vowel of the noun stem in the context preceded by a closed High-toned syllable, z-transformed by speaker and across all speakers and items, as a function of FSC and Noun Stem Tone.

In Figure 8, we show the effect of dissimilatory lowering on the High-toned nouns without the FSC and the absence of this effect in the High-toned nouns with the FSC where the dissimilatory lowering is blocked by the floating High tone. The mean value for the High-toned nouns without the FSC that are subject to dissimilatory lowering is 189 Hz. This mean is closer to the f0 of the Low-toned nouns (180 Hz without the FSC, and 182 Hz with the FSC) than to the f0 of the High-toned nouns with the FSC which is 212 Hz. However, there is a lot of overlap in the standard deviations with both the high and the low levels. This suggests that dissimilatory lowering does not result in a complete neutralisation with the Low tone.

We ran a linear mixed effects model on the f0 measurement for the stem syllable of the noun, with FSC and Tone (of the noun stem) included as fixed factors, plus the interaction between them. (The tone of the preceding verb stem is not included as a factor because it is invariably High.) The dependent is the f0 at 20% into the vowel (cf. Figure 8). As in the earlier models, Item was modelled as a random intercept, and Speaker as a random slope by Noun Stem Tone. The resulting model is reported in Table 4.¹⁹ FSC and the interaction between Noun Stem Tone and FSC register a significant effect, and Noun Stem Tone itself is almost significant at 0.01. This is in line with the descriptive statistics reported

 $^{^{19}}$ The formula for this model in R is lmer(F0.At.20% \sim FSC * Noun.Stem.Tone * Suffix.Tone + (1 + Noun.Stem.Tone|Speaker) + (1|Item), data=F0.Dataset.B).

	Sum of squares	df	F	Probability
FSC	4035.1	1	17.14	0.0004*
Noun Stem Tone	1099.9	1	4.67	0.0397
$FSC \times Noun$ Stem Tone	2784.6	1	11.83	0.0022*

Table 4. Results of the linear mixed effects model for the dependent f0 at 20% of the stem vowel as a function of FSC and Noun Stem Tone. Significant results are marked by asterisks

above. As seen in Figure 8, the biggest difference in the f0 values is conditioned by FSC, as it blocks the neutralisation between Low tone and High tone triggered by dissimilatory lowering. This effect is specific to High-toned FSC nouns, hence the significant interaction.

4.3. Summary

The results of the production study reported in this section show that the FSC conditions a sizeable increase in the duration of the preceding vowel. On average, the duration of this vowel is 46 ms longer before a noun with the FSC (122 ms) than before a noun without the FSC (77 ms), a difference of 58%. This difference is consistent across speakers, to the effect that 95% of the noun tokens can be correctly classified for the FSC on the basis of the duration of the preceding suffix.

The FSC also affects f0 on the suffix vowel, specifically when the vowel is underlyingly specified for Low tone. In this environment, the FSC conditions a rising contour. This finding is in line with the analysis presented in §2, where we postulated that the FSC includes a High target. Finally, the production study confirmed that the FSC interacts with dissimilatory lowering, blocking its application.

5. Discussion: the diachronic development of the FSC in Nuer

Having corroborated the phonetic facts underlying the descriptive analysis of the FSC in §2, we now turn to the question of its diachronic origin. In several West Nilotic languages, both lexical morphemes and inflected words consist primarily of a single closed syllable. A key factor in the drive towards monosyllabism is the loss of suffixes, properties of which have been reassociated within the preceding stem syllable in various ways. First, the ATR specification of the lost vocalic suffixes was transferred to the stem syllable in the guise of specifications for either ATR or voice quality (Mietzner 2007: 146). Second, the tones of lost suffixes also shifted to the stem syllable. This can be seen among other in Shilluk noun paradigms, which can be either suffixed or suffixless. The tonal specification of suffixed paradigms is mirrored in suffixless paradigms, where the same specification is added compositionally onto the stem (Reid 2009: 38-40; Remijsen & Ayoker 2019: 37-42). Finally, the quantity of lost suffix vowels turned into increased vowel length in the stem syllable through compensatory lengthening (Andersen 1990). And because West Nilotic had a two-way vowel length contrast to begin with, this resulted in ternary vowel length contrasts in a number of languages including Dinka (Andersen 1987; Remijsen & Gilley 2008), Reel (Reid 2010), Shilluk (Remijsen et al. 2019), and Nuer (Monich 2017; Reid 2019, 2024). Moreover, the quantity of certain lost suffixes was retained as floating quantity in Shilluk (Remijsen & Ayoker 2020, cf. §1.1).

Nuer has gone further in this diachronic development towards a monosyllabic word shape, in that wordinitial segments have also been lost. In its closest relatives, Dinka and Reel, verb stems are already exclusively monosyllabic; among nouns, the monosyllanic template predominates, but there remain polysyllabic stem forms in which a closed monosyllable is preceded by the vowel /a/ (see Storch 2005: 168, Remijsen & Manyang 2009: 114, and Andersen 2014 on Dinka; and Reid 2010; Cien *et al.* 2016 on Reel). Comparative evidence indicates that these are the forms out of which the FSC has developed. This is shown in Tables 5 and 6, which display words that have the FSC in Nuer alongside cognates in

Nuer (SG – PL)	Dinka (SG – PL)	
	acwěeek – acwèek aciwjżej – aciwij adwżok – adżook agòoor – agór agżr – agżoor agźook – agžok agiuuk – agik akiim – akiiim	'twin' 'grass' (Nuer); 'rope made of grass' (Dinka) 'k.o. gourd' 'pumpkin seed' 'river bank' 'monkey' 'dove' 'doctor'

Table 5. Cognate nouns in Nuer and Dinka. Dinka data come from the second author's own research

Table 6. Cognate nouns in Nuer and Reel. Reel data from Cien et al. (2016) are given in Reel standard orthography. Reel data marked with an asterisk come from the first author's own research

Nuer (sG)	Reel (sG)	
^ú tíiiպ	a <u>t</u> íiw*	'grass door'
^ú táak	$\langle athak \rangle$	'bowl' (Nuer); 'pot' (Reel)
^{µ́} kóal	(akäl)	'calf'
^µ dáaar	(adhaar)	'pot'
^ú dáaaŋ	(adaŋ)	'bow'
^µ gáw	(agau)	'ko grass'
^µ lá <u>t</u>	alâa <u>t</u> *	'cotton' (Nuer); 'cloth, thread' (Reel)
^µ càah	$\langle acak \rangle$	'cow flea'

Dinka and Reel, respectively, that have an initial vowel /a/. We hypothesise that the FSC in Nuer has its diachronic origin in the loss of these initial vowels.

The diachronic development from lost word-initial vowels to the FSC can be explained as follows: when a vowel-initial word follows a word that ends in a vowel, hiatus ensues, that is, the juxtaposition of two vocalic nuclei without an intervening consonant. Hiatus is an unstable phonological constellation, and languages tend to have one or more processes to 'resolve' it, that is, processes that result in a disappearance of two juxtaposed vowels from the surface-phonological form (Casali 2011). One of the ways in which hiatus can be resolved is through compensatory lengthening, whereby the segmental material is lost but the associated quantity is retained and transferred to another constituent (Hayes 1989; Casali 2011: 2). Casali (2011) gives the following example from the Bantu language Ganda, where /ka-oto/ 'small fireplace', is realised [ko:to]. Note that the first vowel /a/, has been lost, and the second vowel has lengthened 'in compensation'. Hiatus resolution through compensatory lengthening has also been observed in relation to word-initial vowels in another West Nilotic language Shilluk: for example, /já ὑcλʌʌmò/ 'PR.ISG IMPF-eat:AP' 'I am eating' is realised as [jáà.cλʌʌ.mò] (Remijsen et al. 2015: 595–596). Here, the word-initial vowel is lost, and its quantity and tone are transferred to the preceding vowel. These examples, in which a word-initial vowel loses its segmental content while its quantity and specification for tone reassociate with the preceding vowel, indicate how the FSC in Nuer may have developed.

The hypothesised diachronic development of the FSC is illustrated schematically in (17). In the diachronic stage one (17a), the word-initial vowel /a/ is realised in most environments; but in the context of a preceding vowel in /tjāb- $\frac{i}{A}$ / 'touch-ISG', hiatus is resolved through compensatory lengthening: the vowel /a/ is not realised, and both the quantity and the tone that were associated with this vowel link

instead within the preceding syllable. In the diachronic stage two (17b), the word-initial vowel is lost, but speakers continue to reproduce the lengthening and tonal effects of the hiatus resolution: the surface phonological realisation is [tjāb Δ hláat] in stage 1 and stage 2 are alike. Because the vowel/a/ is no longer realised, we need to represent these specifications for quantity and tone as FSCs, that is, the FSC.

(17) a. Diachronic stage 1: álát 'cotton'

Unde	rlying form	Hait	us re	esol	lution			
Н	Н		Μ		Н Н		Η	
					Į,,,‡			
σ	σ		σ		σ α		σ	
					<u>``∖</u> †			
μ	μ		μ		μμ		μ	
Ì					l,~1			
á l	á <u>t</u>	ţј	ā	b	, ấ≠	1	á	ţ

b. Diachronic stage 2: ^µlát 'cotton'



The hypothesised development of the FSC out of a hiatus resolution hinges on two theoretical concepts relating to diachronic change. One is the exemplar theory (Wedel 2006; Pierrehumbert 2016): the exemplars with hiatus-induced lengthening are part of the lexical representation of the words with the initial /a/, and they continue to be so when the initial vowels are lost. The other is that the listener misinterprets the source of the increased duration of the preceding vowel as an inherent property of the noun, even though it does not have an initial vowel (Ohala 1989).

Not considered so far is the High tone that is part of the FSC. While the unit of quantity of the FSC in Nuer matches the quantity of the word-initial vowel /a/ in the closely-related Dinka and in Reel (cf. Tables 5 and 6), the High tone of the FSC is not mirrored in the cognates: no tone is postulated for the word-initial vowel /a/ in the Nuer's sister languages. This is because, in Dinka and in Reel, tone is not contrastive in this position. However, at least in some dialects of Dinka, including Bor South, the word-initial vowel /a/ gets a High tone by default in the derivation of the surface-phonological form.²⁰ In this way, the synchronic evidence on the word-initial vowel /a/ in Dinka offers a scenario of how the FSC in Nuer could have evolved its specification for High tone.

In line with its hypothesised diachronic origin in /a/-initial nouns, the FSC in Nuer is found synchronically only within the lexical category of nouns. In most words that have it, it is a part of the phonological specification of the lexical base. There are certain semantic domains in which the FSC words are common, such as body parts (18a) and terms referring to textiles. However, these are merely tendencies, as seen from the body parts in (18b) which do not have the FSC. It is also worthwhile to note that loan words can have the FSC, even when the source word is not vowel-initial (18c).

²⁰For example, all of the following words are realised with a High tone on the initial syllable in Bor South Dinka: [áláat] 'cloth' (cf. (17)), [ágòoor] 'pumpkin seed', [ákwèɛm] 'bean', [ánáaar] 'buffalo'.

(18)	a.	^µ cáaar 'umbilical cord'	^μ c <u>ā</u> aa 'bone'	^ú tìɛɛj 'pupil of eye'
	b.	lóoc 'heart'	Jōk 'back'	kùoc 'ankle'
	c.	^{µ́} cíntà 'bag' (< Arabic)	^{μ́} bέεk 'bag' (< English)	^µ būn 'coffee' (< Arabic)

Since it cannot be predicted if a given noun has the FSC, we postulate that the FSC is part of the underlying specification of the lexical morphemes.

6. Conclusion

Nuer, a West Nilotic language spoken in South Sudan and in Ethiopia, has a FSC. In Lou Nuer, which is under investigation here, the FSC consists of a floating weight unit and a floating High tone, both of which are located at the left edge of the phonological representation of some nouns. The analysis of the FSC in §2 we presented a descriptive analysis of the FSC, spelling out how it affects the surface phonological form in interaction with the phonological properties of the noun itself and of the preceding context. We then confirmed the auditory impressions on which this descriptive analysis is based through a production study with eight native speakers. Comparative evidence indicates that the FSC has its origin in a lost word-initial vowel. We hypothesise that, before the loss of this vowel, the suprasegmental features of quantity and tone of this vowel were isolated from its segmental basis in hiatus resolution. These exemplars continued to be reproduced after the loss of the vowel.

Across the world's languages, floating elements have been postulated in relation to tone (Welmers 1970; Paster 2010), quantity (Trommer 2015; Zimmerman 2017), and various other features (Akinlabi 1996 and further references there). Against this background, our analysis of the FSC in Nuer is of interest in two ways. First, the Nuer FSC is part of the underlying representation of nouns, that is, lexical morphemes, rather than representing (part of) bound morphemes. Second, the weight unit of the FSC is prosodically integrated across a word boundary, associating with a preceding word-final short vowel. As for how these typologically unusual properties have developed, we highlight the strong diachronic drive towards monosyllabism among West Nilotic languages. This diachronic development reaches its culmination in Nuer where the remaining polysyllabic nouns (/a/-initial nouns in Dinka (Table 5) and Reel (Table 6)) have become monosyllabic through the development of the FSC.

The analysis of the FSC in this article is based specifically on the phenomenon as it occurs in Lou Nuer. Other dialects differ with respect to the phonological nature of the FSC. We commend this area of research for further investigation.

Supplementary material. The supplementary material for this article can be found at https://doi.org/10.1017/ S0952675724000198. The supplementary materials include sound clips in waveform audio file (wav) format that illustrate the examples presented in the article. Each file is labelled with a number and a letter corresponding to the examples; for example, 1a.wav is the recording of example (1a). Files corresponding to examples in Table 1 include the English translations of the Nuer words in their filenames, for example, Table1_ash.wav.

Data availability statement. The complete data set used in this study is available separately (Reid & Remijsen 2023).

Acknowledgements. We are thankful to the Nuer speakers who took part in this study. Special thanks go to Rebecca Nyawany Makwach, who is the main speaker for this study and who assisted with the data collection for this article. Finally, we thank the Associate Editor and three anonymous reviewers for helping us to improve the article.

Funding statement. This work was made possible through funding from The Leverhulme Trust, the grant 'Suprasegmentals in three West Nilotic languages' (RPG-2020-040). We gratefully acknowledge their support.

Competing interests. The authors declare no competing interests.

References

- Akinlabi, Akinbiyi (1996). Featural affixation. JL 32, 239-289.
- Andersen, Torben (1987). The phonemic system of Agar Dinka. Journal of African Languages and Linguistics 9, 1–27.
- Andersen, Torben (1990). Vowel length in Western Nilotic languages. Acta Linguistica Hafniensia 22, 5-26.
- Andersen, Torben (2014). Number in Dinka. Amsterdam: Benjamins.
- Baerman, Matthew & Irina V. Monich (2021). Paradigmatic saturation in Nuer. Lg 97, 1–20.
- Baerman, Matthew, Irina V. Monich & Tatiana Reid (2019). Nominal inflection classes in verbal paradigms. *Morphology* 29, 317–335.
- Barr, Dale J., Roger Levy, Christoph Scheepers & Harry J. Tilly (2013). Random effects structure for confirmatory hypothesis testing: keep it maximal. *Journal of Memory and Language* 68, 255–278.
- Bates, Douglas, Martin Mächler, Ben Bolker & Steve Walker (2015). Fitting linear mixed-effects models using lme4. Journal of Statistical Software 67, 1–48.
- Boersma, Paul & David Weenink (2005). *Praat: doing phonetics by computer*. Version 6.2.01. Computer program. http://www.praat.org.
- Casali, Roderic C. (2011). Hiatus resolution. In Marc van Oostendorp, Colin J. Ewen, Keren Rice & Elizabeth V. Hume (eds.) The Blackwell companion to phonology, volume 3, chapter 61. Oxford: Wiley-Blackwell, 1434 –1460.
- Cien, Mark Akec, Andrew Agok Igai Piiny, David Mabor Makuei Angong, John Malak Balang Kerjok, Daniel Majier Johou & David Kuachreng Nhial (2016). *Reel grammar book*. Juba: SIL–South Sudan.

Crazzolara, Joseph P. (1933). Outlines of a Nuer grammar. Vienna: Anthropos.

- Eberhard, David M., Gary F. Simons & Charles D. Fennig (eds.) (2021). *Ethnologue: languages of the world*. 24th edition. Dallas, TX: SIL International. www.ethnologue.com.
- Faust, Noam (2017). How low can you go? A note on mutation in Nuer. *Journal of African Language and Linguistics* **38**, 51–64. Gjersøe, Siri M. (2019). *Tonal interactions in Nuer nominal inflection*. PhD dissertation, Leipzig University.
- Goldsmith, John A. (1976). Autosegmental phonology. PhD dissertation, Massachusetts Institute of Technology.
- Hayes, Bruce (1989). Compensatory lengthening in moraic phonology. LI 20, 253-306.
- Kenstowicz, Michael (1994). Phonology in generative grammar. Oxford: Blackwell.
- Kuznetsova, Alexandra, Per B. Brockhoff & Rune H.B. Christensen (2017). ImerTest package: tests in linear mixed effects models. *Journal of Statistical Software* 82, 1–26.
- McKendry, Inga (2013). Tonal association, prominence and prosodic structure in South-Eastern Nochixtlán Mixtec. PhD dissertation, University of Edinburgh.
- Mietzner, Angelika (2007). Location, motion and movement in Keyo. Annual Publication in African Linguisics 5, 145–163.
- Monich, Irina V. (2017). Vowel length in Nuer. In Karen Jesney, Charlie O'Hara, Caitlin Smith & Rachel Walker (eds.) Proceedings of the 2016 Annual Meeting on Phonology. Washington, DC: Linguistic Society of America, 6 pp.
- Monich, Irina V. (2020). Nuer tonal inventory. Studies in African Linguistics 49, 1–42.
- Monich, Irina V. (2021). Alienable and inalienable possession in Nuer. Presented at the 15th Nilo-Saharan Colloquium, Edinburgh (online), 4–6 August 2021.
- Monich, Irina V. & Matthew Baerman (2019). Stem modification in Nuer. In Emily Clem, Peter Jenks & Hannah Sande (eds.) Theory and description in African linguistics: selected papers from the 47th Annual Conference on African Linguistics. Berlin: Language Science Press, 499–520.
- Ohala, John J. (1989). Sound change is drawn from a pool of synchronic variation. In Leiv E. Breivik & Ernst H. Jahr (eds.) *Language change: contributions to the study of its causes*. Berlin: Mouton de Gruyter, 173–198.
- Paster, Mary (2010). The verbal morphology and phonology of Asante Twi. Studies in African Linguistics 39, 77–120.
- Pierrehumbert, Janet B. (2016). Phonological representation: beyond abstract versus episodic. Annual Review of Linguistics 2, 33–52.
- R Core Team (2021). R: a language and environment for statistical computing. https://www.R-project.org/.
- Reid, Tatiana (2009). Suprasegmentals in Shilluk nominal morphophonology. Master's thesis, University of Edinburgh.
- Reid, Tatiana (2010). Aspects of the phonetics, phonology and morphophonology of Thok Reel. Master's thesis, University of Edinburgh.
- Reid, Tatiana (2019). The phonology and morphology of the Nuer verb. PhD dissertation, University of Surrey.
- Reid, Tatiana (2021). Floating suprasegmental component in Nuer. Presented at the P-Workshop, University of Edinburgh, 18 June 2021.
- Reid, Tatiana (2022a). Models for building relationships and refining approaches for collaborating with indigenous communities: reporting on five years of online work with the Nuer. Presented at the Language Documentation and Archiving conference, Berlin, October 2022. https://youtu.be/BdypMg62ao8.
- Reid, Tatiana (2022b). Untangling the origins of the floating suprasegmental component in Nuer. Presented at the ECR Round Table at the meeting of the Philological Society, University of Edinburgh, December 2022. https://youtu.be/CkAbAKaLBcs. Reid, Tatiana (2024). Nuer. JIPA 54, 479–514.
- Reid, Tatiana (n.d.). The vowel grade system in Nuer. Ms., University of Edinburgh.
- Reid, Tatiana & Bert Remijsen (2023). Floating suprasegmental component in Nuer (Lou dialect cluster), 2021–2022. Data set, University of Edinburgh. https://doi.org/10.7488/ds/7498.

Remijsen, Bert & Otto G. Ayoker (2019). Inflectional morphology and number marking in Shilluk nouns. In Bert Remijsen & Otto G. Ayoker (eds.) A grammar of Shilluk, chapter 2. Honolulu: Language Documentation and Conservation. https: //nflrc.hawaii.edu/ldc/sp14-a-descriptive-grammar-of-shilluk/.

Remijsen, Bert & Otto G. Ayoker (2020). Floating quantity in Shilluk. Lg 96, 135–156.

Remijsen, Bert, Otto G. Ayoker & Signe Jørgensen (2019). Ternary vowel length in Shilluk. Phonology 36, 91–125.

Remijsen, Bert & Leoma Gilley (2008). Why are three-level vowel length systems rare? Insights from Dinka (Luanyjang dialect). *JPh* **36**, 318–344.

Remijsen, Bert & Robert D. Ladd (2008). The tone system of the Luanyjang dialect of Dinka. *Journal of African Languages and Linguistics* 29, 173–213.

Remijsen, Bert & Caguor Adong Manyang (2009). Luanyjang Dinka. JIPA 39, 113-124.

Remijsen, Bert, Cynthia L. Miller-Naudé & Leoma G. Gilley (2015). Stem-internal and affixal morphology in Shilluk. In Matthew Baerman (ed.) *The Oxford handbook of inflection*. Oxford: Oxford University Press, 577–596.

Rolle, Nicholas (2018). Grammatical tone: typology and theory. PhD dissertation, University of California, Berkeley.

Storch, Anne (2005). The noun morphology of Western Nilotic. Cologne: Rüdiger Köppe.

- Trommer, Jochen (2015). Moraic affixes and morphological colors in Dinka. LI 46, 77-112.
- Turk, Alice, Satsuki Nakai & Mariko Sugahara (2006). Acoustic segment durations in prosodic research: a practical guide. In Stefan Sudhoff, Denisa Lenertová, Roland Meyer, Sandra Pappert, Petra Augurzky, Ina Mleinek, Nicole Richter & Johannes Schließer (eds.) *Methods in empirical prosody research*, number 3 in Language, Context, and Cognition. Berlin: De Gruyter, 1–28.

Vannatta, Rachel A. & Kristina N. LaVeni (2020). Linear discriminant analysis. London: SAGE Publications.

Venables, William N. & Brian D. Ripley (2002). Modern applied statistics with S. 4th edition. New York: Springer.

Wedel, Andrew (2006). Exemplar models, evolution and language change. The Linguistic Review 23, 247-274.

Welmers, William E. (1970). Igbo tonology. Studies in African Linguistics 1, 255-278.

Wickham, Hadley, Mara Averick, Jennifer Bryan, Winston Chang, Lucy D.'Agostino McGowan, Romain François, Garrett Grolemund, Alex Hayes, Lionel Henry, Jim Hester, Max Kuhn, Thomas Lin Pedersen, Evan Miller, Stephan Milton Bache, Kirill Müller, Jeroen Ooms, David Robinson, Dana Paige Seidel, Vitalie Spinu, Kohske Takahashi, Davis Vaughan, Claus Wilke, Kara Woo & Hiroaki Yutani (2019). Welcome to the tidyverse. *Journal of Open Source Software* 4, Article no. 1686.

Zimmerman, Eva (2017). Morphological length and prosodically defective morphemes. Oxford: Oxford University Press.